1995

# Water Power Company v. Strawberry Water Users Association : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court had jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended and Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This matter was then poured over to the Court of Appeals by the Supreme Court.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether Water Power should be awarded attorney fees on the case below, on the case of Water Power before the Utah State Tax Commission, and in pursuing this appeal. This is an appeal from the granting of Strawberry Water's Motion for Summary Judgment. Upon review of a grant of a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as that applied by the trial court. Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (Utah 1977). The appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below. And in determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below, the appellate court afford no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions, which are reviewed for correctness. First Security Bank of Utah vs. Creech, 858 P.2d 958 (Utah 1993); Tholen v. Sandy City, 849 P.2d 592 (Utah Ct. App. 1993); Allen v. Prudential Property & Casualty Ins. Co., 839 P.2d 798 (Utah 1992); Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497 (Utah 1989); Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case involving a contract agreement entered into on January 24, 1983 between Water Power Company as Seller and Strawberry Water Users Association as Buyer, whereby Water Power would provide Strawberry Water with hydro-electric equipment.

The agreement included a provision which states:

In addition to any price specified herein, Buyer shall pay the gross amount of any present or future sales, use, excise, value-added, or other similar tax applicable to the price, sale or delivery of any product or services furnished hereunder or to their use by Company or Buyer, or Buyer shall furnish Company with evidence of exemption acceptable to the taxing authorities. [Addendum, Exhibit A].

The agreement also contained the following provision regarding attorney fees:

7. ADDITIONAL TERMS: The terms and provisions of "Conditions of Sale", attached hereto as Exhibit "B", are hereby agreed to and incorporated herein. [Addendum, Exhibit A].

Exhibit "B" in turn contained the following provision:

In the event of a breach of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable Attorney's fees. [Addendum, Exhibit B].

On or about February 17, 1987, the Utah State Tax Commission sent preliminary notices to Water Power and to Strawberry Water assessing sales and use taxes. Both Water Power and Strawberry Water contested the assessments before the Utah State Tax Commission claiming the transaction was exempt from state sales, excise or use tax. In March of 1990, Strawberry Water lost its



tax appeal, and on or about September 8, 1992, the Utah State Tax Commission denied Water Power's appeal. As of December 30, 1987 the amount of the tax assessed was \$192,018.67. Water Power incurred attorney fees in filing its petition and prosecuting its appeal before the Utah State Tax Commission.

Water Power brought suit against Strawberry Water in Fourth District Court of Utah in 1990 alleging theories of breach of contract, anticipatory breach of contract and declaratory relief, seeking payment by, or judgment against, Strawberry Water of the tax deficiency assessed against Water Power for the amount of \$120,135.33, plus penalties, interest and attorney fees, for the equipment and service provided to Strawberry Water for the period of January 1, 1983 through September 30, 1986.

In the case below, Strawberry Water filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking a ruling that the contract provision regarding payment of taxes set forth above was an indemnity provision for loss only and that Water Power should be required to pay the tax before being allowed to pursue Strawberry Water for indemnification. Said Motion for Summary Judgment was denied and the lower court ruled that Water Power's claim was ripe and that Water Power did not need to actually pay the taxes in order to pursue the action below.

On or about October 14, 1994, Strawberry Water filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in the case below seeking dismissal of the claims of Water Power Company. This motion was based upon the fact that Strawberry Water finally paid the taxes assessed by the Utah State Tax Commission, and obtained a Satisfaction of Warrant from the Utah State Tax Commission and therefore claimed that as the exposure to Water Power had been extinguished by its payment, the dispute between Water Power and Strawberry Water had been resolved and there was no further basis for litigation.

Water Power opposed said position, pointing out to the court that although the underlying issue of the tax liability had been resolved, the issue of plaintiff's attorney fees incurred--both in the litigation before the trial court, and in the litigation before the Utah Tax Court--was yet remaining to be resolved and requested that portion of Strawberry Water's Motion for Summary Judgment should be denied.

The trial court, by written Decision dated December 16, 1994, granted Strawberry Water's Motion for Summary Judgment in full, stating in part:

2. Based upon the unique facts and circumstances surrounding this matter, the Court is not inclined to award Plaintiff attorney's fees;

Thereafter, an Order was signed on January 9, 1995 granting to Strawberry Water's judgment on all causes of action brought by

Water Power, and further providing that each side was to bear its own costs and attorney fees. [Addendum, Exhibit C]. This appeal was thereafter taken.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

**I. IT WAS IMPROPER AND AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO REFUSE TO AWARD WATER POWER ITS ATTORNEY FEES IN THE CASE BELOW.**

**II. THE COURT BELOW SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO GIVE WATER POWER AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES IT INCURRED IN PETITIONING THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION CONTESTING THE ASSESSMENT AGAINST IT OF TAX LIABILITY.**

**III. THE COURT BELOW SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO GIVE WATER POWER AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES IT INCURRED IN PROSECUTING THIS APPEAL.**

## ARGUMENT

### I. IT WAS IMPROPER AND AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO REFUSE TO AWARD WATER POWER ITS ATTORNEY FEES IN THE CASE BELOW.

It was improper and an abuse of discretion for the trial court to grant Strawberry Water's Motion for Summary Judgment in full, dismissing the case, and denying Water Power's remaining claims for an award of attorney fees. Water Power had a legal right to have its attorney's fees awarded, which right was thwarted by the trial court's ruling. In the case of Cabrera v. Cottrell, 694 P.2d 622 (Utah 1985), at page 622 the Supreme Court states:

Furthermore, contrary to appellant's contention that attorneys fees should be awarded on the basis of an equitable standard, attorneys fees, when awarded as allowed by law, are awarded as a matter of legal right.

The purpose of an attorney fee provision is to make the non-defaulting or prevailing party whole in the event that it must seek the aid of the courts to enforce its rights under a contract. Requiring a party to bear its own attorney fees when it has a contractual right to payment of a reasonable attorney fee violates a contractual right and leaves the party less than whole. As stated in the case of Management Service Corp. v. Development Associates, 617 P.2d 406 (Utah 1980), "The purpose of a provision for attorney's fees is to indemnify the creditor or the prevailing party against the necessity of paying an

attorney's fee and to enable him to recover the full amount of the obligation."

In Saunders v. Sharp, 840 P.2d 796 (Ut. Ct. App. 1992), Judge Garff, citing to Cabrera, supra, stated: "While courts may, in some situations, award attorney fees on an equitable basis, 'attorneys fees, when awarded as allowed by law, are awarded as a matter of legal right.'\* \* \*One such instance occurs when the right is contractual. In such cases, "'the court does not possess the same equitable discretion to deny attorney's fees that it has when fashioning equitable remedies, or applying a statute which allows the discretionary award of such fees.'" Cobabe v. Crawford, 780 P.2d 1080, 1085 (Utah App. 1988), cert. denied, 779 P.2d 688 (Utah 1989)(quoting Spinks v. Chevron Oil Co., 507 F.2d 216, 226 (5th Cir. 1975)).

"Thus, 'provisions in written contracts providing for payment of attorney fees should ordinarily be honored by the courts.' Stacey Properties v. Wixen, 766 P.2d 1080, 1085 (Utah App. 1988), cert. denied, 779 P.2d 688 (Utah 1989) (quoting Soffe v. Ridd, 659 P.2d 1082, 1085 (Utah 1983. This includes attorney fees incurred on appeal. Management Services Corp. vs. Development Associates, 617 P.2d 406, 408-09 (Utah 1980; accord Redevelopment Agency v. Daskalas, 785 P.2d 1112, 1126 (Utah App. 1989), cert. granted, 795 P.2d 1138 (Utah 1990))."

In Stacey Properties v. Wixen, 766 P.2d 1080, 1085 (Utah App. 1988), quoted above, Judge Bench of the Utah Court of Appeals remanded the case to the trial court with directions to award a reasonable attorney fees where the trial court had failed to award the same. The court in Stacey ruled as follows: "We conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to give effect to the broad contractual language and partial success of Golwix in enforcing its contractual rights." Indeed, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court in this case to refuse to allow an award of attorney fees incurred in the case below for Water Power.

**II. THE COURT BELOW SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO GIVE WATER POWER AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES IT INCURRED IN PETITIONING THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION CONTESTING THE ASSESSMENT AGAINST IT OF TAX LIABILITY.**

In addition to an award of attorney fees incurred by Water Power in pursuing its contractual claims against Strawberry Water in the case below, the trial court should also be directed to enter an award of attorney fees incurred by Water Power in its case before the Utah State Tax Commission in contesting the assessment of taxes against it, under the so-called "third-party tort rule."

Under this rule, the appellate courts in Utah have fashioned a remedy whereby an aggrieved party may be awarded attorney fees as a measure of consequential damages stemming from the

negligence of the third party. This rule is set forth in Broadwater v. Old Republic Surety, 854 P.2d 527 (Utah 1993):

Plaintiff's reliance on South Sanpitch [v. Pack], 765 P.2d 1279 (Utah Ct. App. 1988)] is also misplaced. In that case, a title company negligently failed to timely record the plaintiff's deed. As a result, the plaintiff was forced to file a quiet title action against a third party. The plaintiff sued the title company for the attorney fees incurred in maintaining the quiet title action. Under the 'third-party tort rule,' the court of appeals allowed the recovery of those fees as part of the damages stemming from the title company's negligence. 765 P.2d at 1282-83. Simply stated, the third-party tort rule provides that 'when the natural consequence of one's negligence in another's involvement in a dispute with a third party, attorney fees reasonably incurred in resolving the dispute are recoverable from the negligent party as an element of damages. Id. at 1282. The rule only applies to the recovery of fees incurred in resolving third-party disputes caused by a defendant's negligence. It does not apply to fees incurred in recovering damages from a defendant.

In this case, Water Power was forced to file a Petition before the Utah State Tax Commission contesting the assessment against it of tax liability, which was assessed due to the negligent, or intentional, non-payment of the same by Strawberry Water Users Association. Such facts fit neatly under the third-party tort rule set forth above. The trial court should therefore be directed to enter an award of attorney fees to Water Power in addition to the attorney fees incurred in the case below, for the attorney fees it incurred in its actions before

the Utah State Tax Commission.<sup>1</sup> Accord, South Sanpitch Co. v. Pack, 765 P.2d 1279 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In the area of awarding attorney fees as consequential damages for the breach of a duty of good faith imposed upon insurers, see also Canyon Country Store v. Bracey, 112 Ut.Adv.Rep. 19, 781 P.2d 414 (Ut.S.Ct. 1989), where the Supreme Court of Utah stated:

In this case, there was no contractual provision requiring attorney fees, nor is Canyon Country entitled to recover fees by statute. Canyon Country's claim for recovery of fees was predicated on the theory that attorney fees were an item of consequential damages flowing from the insurer's breach of contract. This is a legitimate theory of damages, as the trial court recognized. However, attorney fees recovered as damages in a breach of contract suit must be based on the prevailing party's actual losses, i.e., its out-of-pocket expenses for legal counsel. The insurers may only be held liable to the extent Canyon Country was actually damaged, that is, in the same amount it was legally obligation to pay counsel. See Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 701 P.2d 795, 801-02 (Utah 1985); Zions First Nat'l Bank v. National American Title Ins., 749 P.2d 651, 657 (Utah 1988). [Emphasis added].

**III. THE COURT BELOW SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO GIVE WATER POWER AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES IT INCURRED IN PROSECUTING THIS APPEAL.**

Water Power should also be awarded attorney fees for pursuing this appeal. "A party who was awarded attorney fees and costs at trial is also entitled to attorney fees and costs if that party prevails on appeal." Wade v. Stangl, 232 Ut.Adv.Rep.

---

<sup>1</sup>The award of attorney fees as consequential damages in insurance cases is a different theory than the "third-party tort rule." The attorney fees award there is based upon the breach of a duty of good faith. However, appellant sees no compelling reason to limit this theory to insurance cases only.



19, (Ut. Ct. App. 1994). See also Brown v. Richards, 840 P.2d 143, 156 (Utah Ct. App. 1992), cert. denied 853 P.2d 897 (Utah 1993).

#### CONCLUSION

This court should remand this case to Fourth District Court with directions to award appellant a reasonable attorney's fees to be established, regarding attorney fees incurred by Water Power in the dispute between Water Power and Strawberry Water in the case below, regarding attorney fees incurred by Water Power before the Utah State Tax Commission, and regarding attorney fees incurred by appellant in prosecuting this appeal.