1995

Water Power Company v. Strawberry Water Users Association : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellee Strawberry Water Users Association ("Strawberry") agrees with the statement of jurisdiction contained in Appellant Water Power Company's ("Water Power") principal brief.

TEXT OF AUTHORITIES

Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-505(1):

Intent:

To establish uniform criteria and a uniform format for affidavits in support of attorneys' fees.

Applicability:

This rule shall govern the award of attorneys' fees in the trial courts.

Statement of the Rule:

(1) Affidavits in support of an award of attorneys' fees must be filed with the court and set forth specifically the legal basis for the award, the nature of the work performed by the attorney, the number of hours spent to prosecute the claim to judgment, or the time spent in pursuing the matter to the stage for which attorneys' fees are claimed, and affirm the reasonableness of the fees for comparable legal services.

ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Water Power appeals the trial court's denial of attorney fees for the civil and administrative proceedings below and asks for attorney fees expended on appeal. (Appellant's Brief at 1). However, Water Power misconstrues the appropriate standard of review for this issue.

This Court will affirm a trial court's denial of attorney fees absent an abuse of discretion. Baldwin v. Burton, 850 P.2d 1188, 1198 (Utah 1993); Equitable Life & Cas. Ins. Co., 849 P.2d 1187, 1194 (Utah App. 1993), cert. den. 860 P.2d 943 (Utah 1993).

The proper standard is not, as Water Power contends, the "correctness" standard used for reviewing summary judgments. Water Power is not appealing the trial court's grant of summary judgment against the causes of action in its Complaint, but the denial of its incidental request for attorney fees.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in Court Below.

Water Power filed a Complaint against Strawberry in 1990 seeking damages for breach of contract, anticipatory breach of contract, and declaratory relief. (R. 24-33). The trial court granted Strawberry's Motion for Summary Judgment on the ground that the causes of action raised in Water Power's Complaint were moot. The Court also denied plaintiff's belated and unsupported request for an award of attorney fees. (R. 268-9; 290) (Ruling on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Order on Summary Judgment attached as Addendum A).

B. Statement of Facts.¹

The parties entered an agreement in 1983 calling for Water Power to provide certain products and services in connection with the construction of a hydroelectric powerhouse for Strawberry.

¹Water Power does not cite to the record in its "Statement of the Case," as required by Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(7). Since there is no support for the statements contained therein, Strawberry asks this Court at a minimum to disregard Water Power's "Statement of the Case." Additionally, this Court may disregard the issues presented on appeal for lack of evidentiary basis and assume the correctness of the judgment below as in English v. Standard Optical Co., 814 P.2d 613, 618-9 (Utah App. 1991).

(R. 31) (contract attached as Addendum B). Although both parties assumed that the transaction was exempt from state sales, excise or use tax, the agreement stated in boilerplate terms appended to the contract that Strawberry Water would be responsible for the payment of taxes. (R. 161).

1. AFTER ELECTING TO PURSUE ITS OWN TAX APPEAL, WATER POWER CLAIMED STRAWBERRY WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INTEREST AND COSTS ACCRUED AFTER STRAWBERRY'S APPEAL HAD BEEN RESOLVED.

In March 1987 the Utah State Tax Commission served Water Power with a preliminary notice assessing Water Power for sales made in connection with the agreement. (R. 29-30). A similar notice was served on Strawberry for sales and use taxes due under the same transaction. (R. 65).

Both parties opposed the tax assessments. (R. 130). They initially agreed, upon Strawberry's suggestion, to consolidate their petitions before the Tax Commission and divide legal fees. (R. 130, 193). However, in August 1987, Water Power altered that agreement by voluntarily choosing to pursue its appeal on its own. (R. 130; 160). Strawberry's tax appeal was resolved in March 1990 when the Tax Commission affirmed the assessment. (R. 2, 29).

On December 21, 1990, many months after Strawberry's administrative appeal was resolved and while Water Power's administrative appeal was pending, Water Power filed a Complaint against Strawberry in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah. (R. 33). The Complaint alleged breach of contract and

anticipatory breach of contract and sought as damages only the amount of taxes plus interest assessed by the Tax Commission, or \$184,970.76. (R. 25-7). The Complaint also sought costs incurred in pursuing the Tax Commission appeal but did not include any request for attorney fees. (R. 25-7). On July 2, 1991, Strawberry sent Water Power a settlement offer of \$132,148.87, representing the principal amount of tax owing and the majority of the penalty. (R. 187, 189). Water Power never responded to the offer in any fashion. (R. 201).

In September 1992, over two years after Strawberry obtained resolution of its appeal, Water Power's appeal was resolved, wherein the Tax Commission affirmed the tax. (R. 124-6). The Tax Commission noted that Water Power had not raised any issues substantially different from those raised by Strawberry in its appeal. (R. 125).

2. THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISED ITS BROAD DISCRETION IN DENYING WATER POWER'S VAGUE REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES.

On January 13, 1994, Water Power moved for summary judgment on the ground that Strawberry should pay the tax liability assessed against the parties. (R. 182). Water Power also mentioned without explanation that it was seeking attorney fees "as provided in the contract." (R. 176). Based upon a Rule 56(f) affidavit submitted by Strawberry, the court granted a sixty-day continuance and directed Strawberry's counsel to determine what it would take to satisfy the state for the taxes due. (R. 254, 261).

Strawberry's counsel then contacted the Tax Commission and learned that the state would accept \$120,135.00, the principal amount of the tax, in full satisfaction of the assessment. (R. 259, 261).

Shortly thereafter, Strawberry satisfied the tax warrant by paying the Tax Commission \$120,135.00, less than the amount it offered to Water Power several years earlier. (R. 268, 282-3). With this satisfaction both Water Power and Strawberry were released from further liability for the tax. (R. 265). Strawberry then submitted a motion for summary judgment on the basis that Water Power's claims against it were extinguished by the satisfaction of the tax warrant. (R. 269). Water Power opposed the motion, declaring without explanation or support therefor that it was entitled to attorney fees for the tax appeal and the civil lawsuit. (R. 271-2). The trial court granted Strawberry's Motion for Summary Judgment and found an award of attorneys fees unwarranted given the circumstances in the case. In doing so, the court acted well within its discretion. (R. 287).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Water Power cannot be awarded attorney fees based solely upon the contract provision. Not only did Water Power fail to preserve this issue below, but the provision only applies to prevailing parties in breach of contract actions. Additionally, Water Power failed to demonstrate to the trial court that the fees it requests are reasonable as required by the

contract provision and by Utah law. Any attorney fees expended by Water Power resulted from its refusal to join Strawberry in appealing the tax assessments and in rejecting Strawberry's settlement offer--an offer which was sufficient to satisfy the Tax Commission.

POINT II: Water Power also cannot be awarded attorney fees based on the third party tort rule. Water Power did not raise this issue below, and in any event the theory can only be used if attorney fees incurred were proximately caused by the tortious acts of another person, which did not occur in this case.

POINT III: Water Power cannot be awarded attorney fees on appeal because it was not awarded attorney fees below.

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

WATER POWER IS NOT ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES UNDER THE CONTRACT PROVISION.

Water Power is not entitled to attorney fees incurred in the administrative and civil proceedings below based on an inapplicable contract provision that it cites for the first time on appeal. Neither can it demand attorney fees when it did not request an award of attorney fees in its Complaint and when it has made no showing that the fees requested are reasonable as required by the contract and Utah law.

A. Water Power Cannot Rely On The Contractual Provision Because It Is Not A Prevailing Party.

On appeal, Water Power bases its claim for attorney fees on the following language in the contract between the parties:²

In the event of a breach of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable Attorney's fees.

Thus, this provision only applies to benefit the party that prevails in a breach of contract action. While Water Power brought a breach of contract claim against Strawberry, this claim did not prevail. The lower court granted Strawberry's motion for summary judgment against all claims, including the breach of contract claim. Enforcing the contract according to its terms, Water Power is ineligible for attorney fees since the court never determined that Strawberry breached the contract. See Stacey Properties v. Wixen, 766 P.2d 1080, 1084-5 (Utah App. 1988) (plaintiff who did not prevail on complaint for acceleration not entitled to attorney fees under provision awarding them for enforcement of contract); Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988) (attorney fees provided for in contract allowed only in accordance with contractual terms).

Water Power has failed to point out how it might be considered the prevailing party when summary judgment was granted against it. The court never ruled that Strawberry breached the contract. In Fashion Place Associates v. Glad Rags, 754 P.2d 940, 942 (Utah 1988), the Supreme Court noted that in order to be

²No such allegation or claim is raised in the Complaint.

considered a "successful party" entitled to attorney fees under a contract, the party must prevail both on legal theory and damages. Water Power prevailed on neither. The court granted summary judgment against its breach of contract claim, and it could not show that it suffered damage because Strawberry paid the tax assessment against them. Water Power is not contractually entitled to attorney fees because the provision only applies to prevailing parties.

B. The Fees Requested By Water Power Are Not Reasonable As Required By The Contract And By Utah Law.

1. WATER POWER ITSELF HAS NEVER SUGGESTED THAT THE AMOUNT IT REQUESTS IS REASONABLE.

Water Power made a blanket demand for attorneys fees without any explanation or documentation whatsoever of that amount. It never submitted an itemization. It never filed an affidavit from counsel. It never explained the nature of the legal services performed.

Besides restricting attorney fees to only the prevailing party in a breach of contract action, the contract provision mandates that attorney fees be reasonable. This requirement parallels the common-law rule that even when a party is entitled to attorney fees by contract, the fees requested must be reasonable. Hoth v. White, 799 P.2d 213, 219 (Utah App. 1990).

It is impossible for a court to determine whether attorney fees are reasonable unless supporting evidence accompanies the request. In Ringwood v. Foreign Auto Works, Inc., 786 P.2d 1350 (Utah App. 1990), cert. den. 795 P.2d 1138 (Utah 1990), a party

sought attorney fees solely on the basis of a contractual provision without offering evidence that the particular amount sought was justified. The provision was less restrictive than the one in this case, stipulating for the reimbursement of attorney fees arising from all claims made by the other party. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of fees, explaining that

[i]t is well established that to justify a finding of a reasonable attorney's fee, there must be evidence in support of that finding.... It is beyond dispute that an evidentiary basis is a fundamental requirement for establishing an award of attorney fees.

Ringwood, 786 P.2d at 1361 (citations omitted).

Rule 4-505 of the Code of Judicial Administration details the format for presenting this evidentiary basis. It requires that an affidavit accompany a request for attorney fees which

set[s] forth specifically the legal basis for the award, the nature of the work performed by the attorney, the number of hours spent to prosecute the claim to judgment, ... and affirm[s] the reasonableness of the fees for comparable legal services.

Rule 4-505(1), Utah Code of Judicial Administration.

Water Power never submitted such an affidavit, much less attempted to document the reasonableness of the fees in any other form.

The presence of a contractual provision for attorney fees does not automatically entitle a party to whatever amount it demands. Once it establishes that the contractual terms have been satisfied, it must then provide evidentiary support for the

amount requested in compliance with Rule 4-505. Unless a party does this, its request for fees simply cannot be entertained.

2. WATER POWER'S DILATORY ACTIONS INDICATE THAT ITS REQUEST IS UNREASONABLE.

After a party submits a Rule 4-505 affidavit, the trial court may consider other factors to determine the reasonableness of the fee requested. Included among these factors is the efficiency of the party in bringing and terminating the case. Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985, 988-90 (Utah 1988).

The record demonstrates Water Power's lack of efficiency. It initially agreed to share attorney fees by presenting a joint appeal to the Tax Commission. However, it later elected to pay attorneys to pursue its own appeal. Water Power's appeal ended two years after Strawberry's appeal, presented the same issues for consideration, and achieved the same result.

Water Power also resisted Strawberry's efforts to terminate the civil action. Only months after Water Power filed its Complaint, Strawberry offered it enough money to satisfy the Tax Commission's warrant. In fact, Strawberry offered Water Power over \$12,000 more than the state accepted as full satisfaction several years later. Water Power failed to respond to this offer, instead choosing to continue litigation until the court terminated it more than three years later in Strawberry's favor. Water Power refused an offer to settle the case which resulted in more litigation and this appeal. When a party declines such gratuitous settlement offers, the court may appropriately deny

attorney fees even if authorized by contract. Cable Marine, Inc. v. M/V Trust Me II, 632 F.2d 1344 (5th Cir. 1980), cited with approval in Cobabe v. Crawford, 780 P.2d 834, 836 n.3 (Utah App. 1989) (Cable Marine attached as Addendum C).

At many points during the civil and administrative proceedings, Strawberry gave Water Power opportunities to curtail attorney fees. Having refused each opportunity, Water Power must absorb its self-generated expenses.

C. Water Power Has Not Preserved This Issue Below And Is Therefore Barred From Presenting It On Appeal.

Water Power vaguely introduced its request for attorney fees to the court below by stating that fees were provided for in the contract. It never cited the alleged provision nor attempted to explain how the provision was applicable. With nothing more before it than a bare assertion that the contract allowed attorney fees, the trial court properly rejected Water Power's request. This Court has previously stressed that "[t]he mere mention of an issue...when no supporting evidence or relevant legal authority is introduced...is insufficient to raise an issue at trial and thus insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal." LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enterprises, 823 P.2d 479, 483 (Utah App. 1991). Because Water Power does not comply with Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(5)(A), it is impossible to tell where, if anywhere, it believes it preserved this issue with sufficient specificity. Water Power's obscure reference below to "the contract" is insufficient to allow it on appeal finally to

cite the contractual provision and present a full-fledged legal argument.

POINT II

WATER POWER CANNOT RECEIVE ATTORNEY FEES UNDER THE THIRD PARTY TORT RULE.

This Court should reject Water Power's contention that Strawberry must pay attorney fees incurred in the Tax Commission appeal because Strawberry "forced" it to appeal.³ (Appellant's Brief at 9). The third party tort rule is inapplicable to this case.

A. The Facts And Context Of This Case Make The Third Party Tort Rule Inapplicable.

The third-party tort rule allows a party to recover reasonable attorney fees incurred in pursuing litigation with a third party that are a natural consequence of one's negligence. Broadwater v. Old Republic Sur., 854 P.2d 527 (Utah 1993). This rule cannot apply to the present situation, primarily because Strawberry has not committed a negligent or otherwise tortious act. Although Water Power claims for the first time on appeal that it became liable for the tax due to Strawberry's "negligent, or intentional" nonpayment, Water Power has never before suggested that Strawberry acted tortiously. (Appellant's Brief at 9). Nothing prevented Water Power from including a cause of action for negligence or intentional tort in its

³Water Power's claim is curious given the fact that at the time the assessments were made both Strawberry and Water Power believed the assessments were invalid and determined to appeal the assessments.

Complaint, but Water Power chose to limit its allegations against Strawberry to breach of contract. At any rate, Water Power cites no support in the record to establish that Strawberry committed tortious conduct.

The third-party tort rule also does not apply to this case because Water Power has not shown that it incurred attorney fees in the administrative proceeding as a natural consequence of Strawberry's actions. To the contrary, Water Power chose to initiate its own appeal entirely of its own volition. Had it not reneged on the agreement to pursue a joint appeal, it would never have incurred the "consequential damages" it is now claiming.

B. Water Power Did Not Preserve This Issue For Appeal.

As with its contractual basis for attorney fees, Water Power did not preserve the third party tort rule issue below. There is absolutely no mention in the record of this rule as a means of awarding attorney fees. Because Water Power did not present this argument to the court below, this Court should disregard it. See Palmer v. Hayes, 892 P.2d 1059 (Utah App. 1995) (claim for attorney fees under statute raised for first time on appeal cannot be considered).

Water Power cannot rely on the newly-raised third party tort rule as a means of receiving attorney fees incurred in the Tax Commission appeal. The rule was never meant to stretch to every situation where a party claims it incurred legal fees due to another party's actions.

POINT III

WATER POWER CANNOT RECEIVE
ATTORNEY FEES FOR THIS APPEAL.

A party may only be awarded attorney fees for appeal if it received attorney fees below and prevails on appeal. Wade v. Stangl, 869 P.2d 9 (Utah App. 1994). Because the lower court properly denied Water Power's claim for attorney fees, Water Power is not entitled to attorney fees expended on appeal.

CONCLUSION

Water Power has failed to demonstrate that the lower court abused its discretion in denying attorney fees. It asks this Court for an award of attorney fees based upon arguments that were not presented to the lower court. Even so, the contract provision and third party tort rule arguments are meritless. Finally, Water Power has made no attempt to show that the fees it demands are reasonable. Strawberry requests that this Court affirm the lower court's denial of attorney fees.